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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TAMPA DIVISION

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,
Case No.

Plaintiff,

COMPLAINT FOR
PERMANENT INJUNCTION
AND OTHER EQUITABLE
RELIEF

Injunctive Relief Sought

V.

SUN BRIGHT VENTURES LLC; CITADEL ID
PRO LLC; and BENJAMIN TODD WORKMAN,

Defendants, and

TRIDENT CONSULTING PARTNERS LLC; and) HilédUnder Seal

GLENN ERIKSON,

Relief Defendants.
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Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commigsi(“FTC” or “Commission”) alleges:

1. The FTC brings this action under Seas 13(b) and 19 dhe Federal Trade
Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.®& 53(b) and 57b, and the Telemarketing and
Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act (“Telemarketing Act”), 15 U.S.C. 88 6101-08, to
obtain temporary, preliminary, and permanent infiwecrelief, rescission or reformation of
contracts, restitution, refund ofonies paid, disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, and other
equitable relief for Defendants’ acts or practices in violatio8axftion 5(a) of the FTC Act,
15 U.S.C. § 45(a), and in violation of the@®$ Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16
C.F.R. Part 310.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has subject matter gdliction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88§ 1331,

1337(a), and 1345, and 15 U.S.C.4&Ra), 53(b), 6102(c), and 6105(b).
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3. Venue is proper in this District und28 U.S.C. 88 1391(b)(2), (b)(3), (c)(1),
(©)(2), (d), and 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).

SUMMARY OF THE CASE

4. Defendants target seniors using deceptelemarketing calls to withdraw
money from their bank accounts without authation. Defendants obtain consumers’ bank
account information by misrepresenting théiiliation with the United States government
and offering consumers free products or servidsing remotely created checks, defendants
then illegally debit consumerbank accounts. Consumers often learn of these unauthorized
debits only after noticing them on their bank statements. Defendants have made millions of
dollars in unauthorized debits without providing consumers with any product or service in
exchange.

PLAINTIFF

5. The FTC is an independent agency of the United States Government created
by statute. 15 U.S.C. 88 41-58. The FTC enforiogay, alia, Section 5(a) of the FTC Act,

15 U.S.C. § 45(a), which prohibitsifair and deceptive acts practices in or affecting
commerce, and the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 6101-6108, and the TSR, which
prohibits deceptive and abusive talrketing acts or practices.

6. The FTC is authorized to initiate federal district coudgeedings by its own
attorneys, to enjoin violations of the FTCtAmnd the TSR, and to secure such equitable
relief as may be appropriate in each caseudinf rescission or reformation of contracts,
restitution, the refund of monies paid, and disgorgement of ill-gotten monies. 15 U.S.C.

88 53(b), 56(a)(2)(A), 56(a)jdB), 57b, 6102(c), and 6105(b).
DEFENDANTS
7. Defendant Sun Bright Ventures LLC (“Sun Bright Ventures”) is a Florida

limited liability company with itgrincipal place of business in Riverview, Florida. Sun



Bright Ventures transacts or has transatiesiness in this Distt and throughout the
United States.

8.
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COMMERCE

12.  Atall times relevant to this Complaint, Defendants have maintained a
substantial course of trade in the offeringgale and the sale gbods or services via
telephone, in or affecting commerce, as “commerce” is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act,
15 U.S.C. § 44.

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS PRACTICES

13.  Since at least September 2013, Defetglaave debited consumers’ bank
accounts without consumers’ express inforroedsent, and sometimes without their
knowledge. Since September 2013, Defendants have deposited more than $3 million into
their own bank accounts by illegaltiebiting the bank accounts of thousands of consumers,
many of whom are senior citizens.

14. Defendants engage in a deceptive telemarketing campaign to obtain
consumers’ personal bank account inforamatincluding their bank account and routing
numbers.

15. Defendants’ representaty®ften call consumers with whom they have no
existing business relationship and whosepietme numbers are on the National Do Not Call
Registry.

16. In some instances, Defendants debiisumers’ bank accounts without having
any communications with them at all.

17.  During a typical telemarketing call, Defé@ants’ representatives make several
false representations. In numerous instantey misrepresent that they are calling on
behalf of, or are affiliated with, Medicare, a United States government program.

18. In numerous instances, Defendants’ repnéstives state that, because of new
changes to health care, they are providing eorss with a new Medicare card, or a package

of information related to their Medicarerdits. In fact, Defendants do not provide
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unlawful practices, such as unautlzed debiting of consumer accounts.

35. In determining what constitutes a “high” rate of return, a useful benchmark is
the average industry rate of return ie hCH network. Currently, neither the banking
industry nor the Federal Reserve Bank mamstapecific information about the average
industry return rates for RCCs.

36. However, NACHA does keep track ofetlaverage industry return rates for
ACH debits to consumer accounts, which aparable consumer payment mechanism.
According to NACHA data, the 2013 ACH awage return rate was 1.42% for all debit
transactions.

37. Since at least September 2013, Defendants’ debits of consumers’ bank
accounts have resulted in extremely high retates. The initial bank Defendants used to
deposit their debits recordadreturn rate of 68% beegn September 2013 and January
2014. The bank subsequently termindtesr relationship with Defendants.

VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT

38.  Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 45(a), prohibits “unfair or deceptive
acts or practices in or affecting commerce.”

39. Misrepresentations or deceptive omissions of material fact constitute
deceptive acts or practices prioited by Section 5(a) of the FTACt. Acts or practices are
unfair under Section 5 of the FTC Act if they caasare likely to cause substantial injury to
consumers that consumers cannot reasonably éveimselves and that is not outweighed by
countervailing benefits to consumers or competition. 15 U.S.C. § 45(n).

COUNT | — Deceptive Representation®egarding Defendants’ Affiliation

40. In numerous instances, Defendants repitesirectly or indirectly, expressly
or by implication, that thegre contacting the consumer from, or on behalf of, or are

otherwise affiliated with, one or mokénited States government entities.
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41. Intruth and in fact, Defendants aret gontacting the consumer from, or on
behalf of, and are not otherwise affiliatedh, any United States government entity.

42.  Therefore, Defendants’ representatiassset forth in Paragraph 40 of this
Complaint are false and misleading and constitute a deceptive act or practice in violation of
Section 5(a) of the FT@&ct, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

COUNT II — Deceptive RepresentationgRegarding the Need For and Use of
Consumers’ Personal Information

43. In numerous instances, Defendants regmethat they require consumers’
personal information, including financial azmt information, to verify consumers’
identities, and that this inforaion will not be used to debit consumers’ bank accounts.

44,  Intruth and in fact, Defendants do mated consumers’ personal information
for verification purposes and Defendants instead use this information to debit consumers’
bank accounts.

45.  Therefore, the making of the representation set forth in Paragraph 43 of this
Complaint is false and misleading and constgw@eleceptive act or practice in violation of
Section 5(a) of the FT@&ct, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

COUNT Ill — Unfair Unauthorized Debits

46. In numerous instances, Defendants debit or cause the debiting of consumers’
bank accounts without the consumers’ autaiion or express informed consent.

47.  Defendants’ actions cause, or are hk&l cause, substantial injury to
consumers that consumers cannot reasoraatail themselves and is not outweighed by
countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.

48. Therefore, Defendants’ practicesdescribed in Paragraph 46 of this
Complaint constitute unfair acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15

U.S.C. 88 45(a) and 45(n).



Case 8:14-cv-02153-JDW-EAJ Document 1 Filed 09/02/14 Page 10 of 16 PagelD 10

VIOLATIONS OF THE TE LEMARKETING SALES RULE

49. Congress directed the FTC to prescribe rules prohibiting abusive and
deceptive telemarketing acts or practices utlge Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 6101-
6108. The FTC adopted the original TSR in 1995, extensively amended it in 2003, and
amended certain sections thereafter. 16 C.F.R. Part 310.

50. Defendants are “sellers[s]” or “telemarketer[s]’ engaged in “telemarketing,”
and Defendants have initiated, or causéehtarketers to initi@, “outbound telephone
call[s]” to consumers to inducedlpurchase of goods or se®s$, as those terms are defined
in the TSR, 16 C.F.R. 8 310.2 (aa), (cc), and (dd)

51. Under the TSR, an “outbound telephone call” means a telephone call initiated
by a telemarketer to induce the purchase of goods or servicesadictba charitable
contribution. 16 C.F.R.8 302(V).

52. The TSR prohibits sellers and telemarketers from misrepresenting, directly or
by implication, in the sale of goods or servicasy of the following material information:

a. The total costs to purchase, receimeuse, and the quantity of, any
goods or services that are the sabjof a sales offer. 16 C.F.R.

8§ 310.3(a)(2)(i);

b. Any material aspect of the perfoance, efficacy, nature, or central
characteristics of goods or servi¢bat are the subject of a sales
offer. 16 C.F.R. 8§ 310.3(a)(2)(iii); or

C. A seller’s or telemarketer’s affiliation with, or endorsement or
sponsorship by, any person or government entity. 16 C.F.R.

§ 310.3(a)(2)(vii).
53. The TSR prohibits any seller or telematdr from causing billing information

to be submitted for payment, or collecting or attempting to collect payment for goods or

10
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services or a charitable comumtion, directly or indirectlywithout the customer’s express

verifiable authorizatin, except when the method of paymesed is a credit card subject to

protections of the Truth ihending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 16@t seq., and Regulation Z, 12

C.F.R. 8§ 226, or a debit cardigect to the protections ofalElectronic Fund Transfer Act,

15 U.S.C. 8 1698t seq., and Regulation E, 12 C.F.R285. 16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(3). When

an audio recording of the customer’s expi@ss authorization is used to satisfy this

requirement, the TSR requires that the rdit@ must clearly evidence the customer’s

authorization of payment for tlggods or services that areetbubject of the telemarketing

transaction and the customer’s receipall of the following information:

a.

b.

g.

The number of debits, charges,payments (if more than one);

the date(s) the debit(s), charge(s), or payment(s) will be submitted
for payment;

the amount(s) of the debit(s), charge(s), or payment(s);

the customer’s name;

the customer’s billing information, identified with sufficient
specificity such that the customaémderstands what account will be
used to collect payment for tigeods or services or charitable
contribution that are the subjecttbe telemarketing transaction;

a telephone number for customequiry that is answered during
normal business hours; and;

the date of the customer’s oral authorization.

16 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(3)(ii).

54. The TSR prohibits any seller or telematdr from causing billing information

to be submitted for payment, directly or inditlg, without the express informed consent of

the customer. In any telemarketing transaction, the seller or telet@markust obtain the

11
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express informed consent of the customer toHaged for the goods or services and to be
charged using the identified account. 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(7).

55. The TSR prohibits telemarketersin initiating any outbound calls to a
person when that person’s telephone nungen the Do Not Call Registry. 16 CFR
310.4(b)(1)(iii)(B).

56. Pursuant to Section 3(c) of the Tmlarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6102(c), and
Section 18(d)(3) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 57&8) a violation of the TSR constitutes an
unfair or deceptive act or praoti in or affecting commerce, #iolation of Section 5(a) of
the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

COUNT IV — Misrepresenting Affiliation with a Government Entity

57.  In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing of their purported
goods or services, Defendants represent thatatreegffiliated with, or have the endorsement
or sponsorship of Medicare, a ithd States government program.

58. Intruth and in fact, Defendants have no affiliation with Medicare or any
United States government entity, and areamatorsed or sponsored by any such entity.

59. Defendants’ misrepresentationsaleged in Paragraph 57, constitute
deceptive telemarketing acts or practices Waates Section 310.3(a)(2)(vii) of the TSR, 16
C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(2)(vii).

COUNT V — Misrepresenting Material Aspects

60. In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing of their purported
goods or services, Defendants misrepresetemahaspects of the nature or central
characteristics of the good or services offered.

61. Defendants’ misrepresentationsadleged in Paragraph 60, constitute
deceptive telemarketing acts or practices Watte Section 310.3(a))@i) of the TSR, 16
C.F.R. §310.3(a)(2)(iii).

12



COUNT VI — Lack of Express Verifiable Authorization

62. In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing of their purported
goods or services, Defendants cause billing information to be submitted for payment using a
payment method other than a atexdrd subject to the protections of the Truth in Lending
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1604t seq., and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 226, or a debit card subject to
the protections of the Electrorfimind Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1683eq., and Regulation
E, 12 C.F.R. § 205, without the consurae@xpress verifiable authorization.

63. Defendants’ failure to obtain expressifiable authorization, as alleged in
Paragraph 62, constitutes a deceptive teleniarkact or practice that violates Section
310.3(a)(3) of the TSR,6 C.F.R. § 310.3(a)(3).

COUNT VII — Lack of Express Informed Consent to Be Billed
64. In numerous instances, in connection with telemarketing of their purported

goods or services, Defendants cause billing in

13



COUNT IX — Relief Defendants

68. Relief Defendants Trident Consulting aBdkson have received, directly or
indirectly, funds, other assets, both, from Defendants thate traceable to funds obtained
from Defendants’ customers through the urildvacts or practices described herein.

69. Relief Defendants are not bona fide purchasers with legal and equitable title to
Defendants’ customers’ funds, or other assets, and Relief Defendants will be unjustly
enriched if they are not reqed to disgorge the funds tire value of the benefit they
received as a result of Defemdsl unlawful acts or practices.

70. By reason of the foregoing, Relief f2adants hold funds and assets in
constructive trust for the beniedf Defendants’ customers.

CONSUMER INJURY

71. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a
result of Defendants’ violations of Sectidbi&) of the FTC Act and the TSR. In addition,
Defendants have been unjustly enriched as atrefstheir unlawful act®or practices. Absent
injunctive relief by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap
unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest.

THIS COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF
72.  Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 UG.8 53(b), empowers this Court to

14



finds necessary to redress injury to conssmesulting from Defendants’ violation of the
TSR, including rescission and reformatimincontracts, and threfund of money.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Federal Trade @amission, pursuant to Section 13(b) and
19 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 53(b) and 57t &ection 6(d) of the Telemarketing Act, 15
U.S.C. 8§ 6105(b), and the Court’s own iglole powers, requesthat the Court:

1. Award Plaintiff such preliminary injunive and ancillary relief as may be
necessary to avert the likelihooticonsumer injury during th@endency of this action and to

preserve the possibility offetctive final relief, including, bu
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